JAMES NOBLE, M.D,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 87,857 (LOWER COURT CASE NO. 96-54 CA - MARTIN COUNTY)

MARTIN COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JORDAN FIELDS, ESQUIRE FIELDS & WILKINSON, P.A. Attorneys for Appellant 416 Cortez Avenue Stuart, Florida 34994 (407) 286-0890 Fla. Bar No. 205745

CASE NO. 87,857 NOBLE V. MARTIN COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel for the Defendant/Appellant, JAMES NOBLE, M.D., certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal, pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, of a bond validation proceeding. The Order appealed is a Final Order validating the Martin County Health Facilities Authority, sections 1996A and 1996B revenue bonds. (See Appendix at Tab 7) The revenue bonds and proceeds therefrom go to Martin County Health Facilities Authority for capital improvements to Martin Memorial Hospital in Stuart, Florida. Martin Memorial Hospital is a not for profit hospital, located in Stuart, Florida. Martin Memorial Hospital provides a variety of health care facilities and services at various locations in Martin County. Martin Memorial Hospital has also branched out and provides health care facilities and services in St. Lucie County. (See Appendix at Tab 4.a, pages 1-40).

The Appellant, JAMES NOBLE, M.D., is a local physician. Dr. Noble intervened his objection to the bond notice procedure and that he was not able to present his general and specific concerns with the bond validation procedure and raise the issue of whether these bonds were satisfied the public purpose doctrine. (See Appendix at Tab 4.a, pages 1-40).

The Court heard the evidence and summarily rejected all arguments as collateral and not within the Court's jurisdiction.

- I. The intervenor/appellant raised issues which were not collateral matters. The court does have jurisdiction to try the issue of whether subject bonds are within the public purpose doctrine.
 - A. the public purpose test for bonds has been liberally construed;
 - B. the courts have unique jurisdiction to hear public purpose arguments and such matters on a case by case basis,
- II. As a result of Martin Memorial Medical Center operating in both Martin and St. Lucie Counties, the public purpose doctrine invalidates the bonds.
 - A. The intent of Section 154.201, et seq is to allow counties to assist hospitals meet the public need.
 - B. The courts should entertain economic analysis of revenue bonds.

POINT I. WHETHER THE INTERVENOR/APPELLANT'S MOTION TO INTERVENE RAISED ISSUES THAT WERE NOT COLLATERAL MATTERS AND WERE WITHIN THE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT.

The broad point of this appeal is that Dr. Noble's objections to the validation of the subject bonds raised issues that were not merely collateral and that the bonds violate the public purpose doctrine.

While general obligation bonds issued by the State and local Governments require voter approval before tax revenues may be obligated, revenue bonds are different. Revenue bonds, and in particular revenue bonds raised under Florida Statutes Chapter 154 do not require voter approval. Fla. Const. Art. VII, §11, In particular, as set out in Florida Statutes Chapter 154, 12. the Counties are allowed to create health facility authorities which can issue revenue bonds to supplement the needs of health facilities in providing assistance for the health needs of the counties or local governmental entities. This is a statutory doctrine codifying the Legislative determination that municipal bond type debt is a way of financing the future and current medical needs of Florida's residents. The taxpayer, who becomes a party to a bond validation proceeding by intervening, can appeal to this Court if he is dissatisfied with the trial court's ultimate validation of the bonds. Fla. Stat. §75.08 (1994).

An historical perspective of the case law in Florida shows a liberal trend in expanding what is considered a public purpose:

In adopting the Constitution, and later Amendments, however, the people have left questions to be answered on a case by case basis as the structures of particular financing present themself. <u>12 Fla. State L.</u> <u>Rev. 710,711 (Winter 1995).</u>

There is a two prong test to determine the validity of revenue bonds. First, is the determination that the full faith and credit of the Governmental entity has not been pledged. The second is that the project serves a requisite public purpose. Orange County Industrial Development Authority v. State, 427 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1983); Wald v. Sarasota County Health Facility Authority, 360 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1978).

While an analysis of the cases clearly leads to the conclusion that the Courts have been liberal in their interpretation of the public policy doctrine, the review process before the Supreme Court is clearly designed to allow a party dissatisfied to seek this Court's review. Fla. Stat. §75.08.

The validity of a proposed bond issue pledging the public credit for any project not enumerated in the Florida Constitution still depends on whether the project serves a paramount public purpose. <u>State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Authority</u>, 392 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1980).

The Appellant fully acknowledges that the Supreme Court is aided in making a public policy determination by specific legislative findings such as embodied in Chapter 154 of the Florida Statutes which provides for health care facility authorities. <u>Fla. Stat. §154.03.</u>

Dr. Noble's position is that the trial court incorrectly dismissed his motion that this particular bond project was an

"improper subsidy of private enterprise with public money", <u>State</u> <u>v. City of West Palm Beach</u>, 113 So.2d 324, 377 (Fla. 1959), as a collateral matter, and not within its jurisdiction. Because the Court seems to have a unique responsibility in balancing the public interest and the public's debt, a determination of the public purpose should not be summarily dismissed by the trial court. The Appellant fully recognizes that there is a presumption of validity to the Legislative finding that the health care facility's authority serves a public purpose, and that the standard of review is that the Appellant must show that the trial court's determination that a particular revenue bond is within the Public Purpose Doctrine is clearly erroneous.

The trial court ruled that it had no jurisdiction of the matters presented by Dr. Noble. The Court found that:

. . d . The purpose of the obligation is legal; g. Further, the court feels that the matters raised by Dr. Noble are collateral issues over which this court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. (appendix)

The Appellant argues that the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction to determine the issue of whether a bond is violative of the public policy doctrine.

POINT II. WHETHER IT IS VIOLATIVE OF THE PUBLIC POLICY DOCTRINE TO ALLOW A HOSPITAL THAT RAISES REVENUE BONDS PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 154 TO ISSUE THOSE BONDS WHILE IT IS DOING BUSINESS IN ANOTHER LOCALITY AND IS NOT REALLY IN NEED OF THE ASSISTANCE OF CHAPTER 154 REVENUE BONDS.

It is uncontested in the record that Martin Memorial Medical Center is doing significant business and providing significant health care facilities in St. Lucie County, as well as Martin County. (See Appendix, Tab 6, pages 1-15)

Section 154.201 provides that it is essential that the people of Florida have access to adequate medical care and health facilities. Fla. Stat. 154,201,203. The requisite for a health care authority to raise revenue bonds is the obtaining of a Certificate of Need as defined in the Florida Statutes. In essence, Dr. Noble's argument, as pointed out in his testimony before the Court, is that troubling economic result created by Martin Memorial Medical Center, based upon its obtaining a Certificate of Need for an additional facility in Martin County, was allowed to raise millions of dollars to fund this new facility. At the same time, it was reserving to its corporate self, its own earned revenues that it had derived from its own existing health care facilities in Martin County to utilize and fund the expansion of facilities in St. Lucie County. (See Appendix 4.a, page 12)

This Court has in the past considered the economic analysis concerning revenue bonds.

. . . Under our organic law, public money cannot be appropriated for a private purpose or used for the purpose of acquiring property for the benefit of a private concern.

It does not matter that such undertakings may be called, or how earthwhile they may appear to be at the passing moment. The financing of private enterprises by means of public funds is entirely foreign to a proper concept of our constitutional system. Experience has shown that such encroachments will lead inevitably to the ultimate destruction of the private enterprise system. <u>State v. Town of</u> <u>North Miami Beach</u>, 59 So.2d 779, 785 (Fla. 1952).

Is the trial court's finding that the revenue bonds in question satisfy the statutory prohibition against pledging the full faith and credit of Martin County, and that it satisfies the Public Purpose Doctrine clearly erroneous? The Appellant submits that the answer is in the affirmative as a result of the trial court's summary rejection of the argument as not within its jurisdiction. The judiciary must remain alert to any attempt at misuse of public borrowing authority.

Chapter 154 allows for the creation of health care facilities, and enables them to borrow money for revenue bond issues. However, intertwined with revenue bonds is the obtaining of a Certificate of Need. <u>Fla. Stat.154.201</u>.

The Certificate of Need program, as it exists in Florida, traces its origins to efforts at health planning on the State level in the early 1970's. The Certificate of Need was said to have three major goals; one, controlling health care costs; two, insuring quality of care; and three, insuring indigent access to medical care. These are still basically the core goals of the Certificate of Need program in Florida. <u>19 Fla. State L. Rev.</u> 477, vol. no. (2 Fall 1991).

It has been said that granting a Certificate of Need to a

hospital is like granting it a property right in its locality. The granting of the Certificate of Need will increase the hospital's income, and improve its competitive advantage. Dr. Noble's position is that since a Certificate of Need (See Appendix, Tab 1.a) is intertwined with revenue bonds under Chapter 154, it requires some judicial inquiry into whether such bonds control costs, insure quality, and insure access for indigent care. The analysis of the public policy argument should include these issues.

A discussion of the public policy issues whould include factors such as, (a) Does the hospital have significant funds? (b) Does the hospital do business in more than one county? (c) What economic impact is there where Martin Memorial Medical Center raises revenue bonds when it does business in a neighboring county purely for its own economic benefit? Because of the Legislative intent to Chapter 154, the Appellant urges the Court that such questions, and the analysis of public policy, are not collateral issues. Shouldn't the question be asked that if a hospital, having a need requiring the public assistance of both a Certificate of Need and revenue bonds, have some limitations placed upon it? Under the present scheme, there is no check on the competitive or economic effects in the validation of this bond. (See Appendix, Tab 6, pages 1-20) (Als, See Appendix, Tab 5).

The language of section 154.203 is restricted to each county or municipality and to provide a "measure" of assistance. (Fla. Stat. 154.203). This language invites judicial review.

In the case before this Court, the question of the use of the proceeds of the bond should be analyzed by looking at the unique ability of Martin Memorial Hospital to gain a competitive edge with its own funds to compete with hospitals outside the county. The Appellant urges that the question of the use of such proceeds is never a collateral issue. <u>McCoy Restaurants, Inc.</u> <u>vs. City of Orlando</u>, 392 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1980). Each case must be considered on its own facts to determine whether an issue is collateral.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant submits that the validation of the instant revenue bonds in this case, while not patently illegal, violates the public purpose doctrine and makes this bond issue invalid.

In addition, the decision of the Court to summarily dismiss the Appellant's Motion to Intervene was in error, as the issues raised were not collateral matter, and were within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Martin County.