#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 87,857

Bond Validation Appeal From The Circuit Court Of Martin County, Florida

JAMES NOBLE, M.D.,

Appellant,

v.

MARTIN COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, and J.D. LOOKADOO, JR.,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF APPELLEE MARTIN COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY

FIELDSTONE LESTER & SHEAR Paul A. Lester First Union Financial Center Susan L. Turner 200 S. Biscayne Blvd. Suite 2100 Miami, FL 33131-2104 (305) 982-1555

#### HOLLAND & KNIGHT

Hume F. Coleman P.O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 224-7000

Attorneys for Martin County Health Facilities Authority

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a direct appeal from a final bond validation judgment entered by the Circuit Court of Martin County, Florida. [A 7.] This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(2), Fla. Const.; § 75.08, Fla. Stat. (1995).

The issuer of the bonds, and an appellee here, is the Martin County Health Facilities Authority (the "Authority").<sup>1</sup> The Authority was created by resolution of the Martin County Board of County Commissioners in 1982, pursuant to Chapter 154, Florida [A 1, Ex. A (Resolution 82-2.13).] The Authority Statutes. adopted a resolution on August 31, 1995, authorizing the issuance of an aggregate principal amount of not more than  $$45,000,000^2$  in bonds, known as the "Martin County Health Facilities Authority Hospital Revenue Bonds, Series 1995A, " and "Martin County Health Facilities Authority Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 1995B" (together, the "Bonds"). The Bonds were authorized for the purposes of refunding an earlier bond issue; financing capital expenditures, improvements, and equipment for the Martin Memorial Medical Center, a not-for-profit medical center in Stuart, Florida (the "Medical Center"); and paying costs of reserve funds, bond insurance, and issuance costs. [A 1, Ex. C.] The Bonds will not directly or indirectly obligate the State or any political

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the notice of appeal and initial brief identify only the Authority as appellee, the State of Florida and J.D. Lookadoo, Jr., an Intervenor below, are also appellees by virtue of Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(f)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under circumstances not relevant here, the face amount of the Bonds due at maturity may exceed \$45,000,000. [A 1 at p.3.]

subdivision of the State, and neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision is pledged for payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds. [A 7 at 5.]

The Authority filed its complaint in Martin County Circuit Court in January, 1996, seeking validation of the Bonds. [A 1.] The court entered an order to show cause and set a hearing for the bond validation proceedings to occur on March 13, 1996. [A 2.] The order to show cause was later amended,<sup>3</sup> and the amended order was published in <u>The Stuart News and The Port St. Lucie News</u> once each week for two consecutive weeks prior to the bond validation hearing. [SA 2.] The accounts receivable manager for the newspaper attested that the newspaper is in general circulation in Martin County and in St. Lucie County. [<u>Id.</u>]

Appellant, James Noble, M.D. ("Dr. Noble"), objected to the validation of the bonds on two grounds.<sup>4</sup> First, he maintained that proceeds from the Bonds would be expended for facilities in St. Lucie County, Florida, in addition to Martin County, and therefore that notification should be published in St. Lucie County

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  The order to show cause was amended to reflect the correct street address of the courthouse where the hearing would be held, and the dates and times, previously handwritten, were typed in the amended order. [A 2.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Another intervenor, identified as J.D. Lookadoo, Jr., M.T., filed a notice of intent to file a motion for rehearing of the bond validation [A 5], but there is no indication that he pursued it. The circuit court's final order validating the Bonds finds that the notice was "legally insufficient as a matter of law because the notice raise[d] matters wholly collateral to the validation proceedings." [A 7 at 7.]

as well as in Martin County. [A 3.] Dr. Noble also argued that because the proceeds of the Bonds would be used in Martin County, the Medical Center would be able to use other funds, unrelated to the bond issue, to further its business in St. Lucie County. [A 6 at 19-20.] There was no evidence that any proceeds of the Bonds would go to St. Lucie County. To the contrary, the testimony at hearing was that the proceeds would be expended exclusively within Martin County. [A 6 at 4, 8-10.] In any event, publication covered both counties. [SA 2.]

Second, Dr. Noble asserted that the trustee for other hospital bonds issued in 1976 had breached its fiduciary duty by allegedly permitting an escrow balance to fall below its mandatory minimum amount. [A 3 at 2; A 4a at 25-27.] Dr. Noble claimed that he had been unable to obtain documentation related to this claim before the Martin County Commission met and approved the Bonds, and that the Commission denied him due process of law by refusing a continuance until he could obtain the documentation he sought. He later allegedly obtained the documentation, and filed a [Id.] number of unauthenticated documents purporting to show activity in an escrow account [A 4], but presented no testimony or other evidence, except his own cursory testimony, to identify the documents or to explain or support his allegations. He argued at the hearing that the bonds should not be validated because of this alleged escrow discrepancy from a previous 1976 bond issue. [A 6 at 21-22.]

- 3 -

The circuit court entered an order validating the Bonds after finding that the Authority was authorized to issue the Bonds, that the purpose of the Bonds is legal, the proceedings were proper, and that Dr. Noble's challenges were "collateral issues over which this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction in this proceeding." [A 6 at 27-28; A 7.] Dr. Noble has appealed. [A 8.]

On appeal, Dr. Noble newly characterizes his arguments as being directed to whether or not the Bonds served a valid public purpose. [In. Br. 4-5.] Thus, he argues on appeal that his contentions were within the jurisdiction of the circuit court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, governs bond validation proceedings and limits the scope of a bond validation proceeding to the issuing body's authority to issue the bonds, the validity of the public purpose, and the bond issue's compliance with the requirements of law. The circuit court does not have jurisdiction in a bond validation proceeding to adjudicate issues such as those Dr. Noble raised: that the issuance of the Bonds would permit the Medical Center to expend other funds of its own, unrelated to the Bonds, in another county; and that the trustee on a previous 1976 bond issue allegedly made a mistake in handling that bond issue's escrow account. His contentions are not relevant to issues within the scope of Chapter 75 bond validation proceedings, and thus the

- 4 -

trial court properly ruled that they were collateral to the bond validation proceeding.

Even if Dr. Noble's contentions are considered challenges to the validity of the public purposes of the Bonds, which is within the jurisdiction of the circuit court, Dr. Noble failed to adduce any competent substantial evidence in support of his contentions, and therefore cannot show that the circuit court's decision was clearly erroneous. The record fully supports the circuit court's findings, including its finding that the Bonds are being issued for a valid public purpose, and its decision that the Bonds are valid. The judgment should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED DR. NOBLE'S OBJECTIONS AS BEYOND THE SCOPE OF BOND VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS.

The law is well settled that a bond validation proceeding has a narrow scope:

The scope of judicial inquiry in bond validation proceedings is limited to the following issues: 1) determining if the public body has the authority to issue the bonds; 2) determining if the purpose of the obligation is legal; and 3) ensuring that the bond issuance complies with the requirements of law.

Rowe v. St. Johns County, 668 So. 2d 196, 198 (Fla. 1996). Despite this narrow scope of bond validation hearings, Dr. Noble argued before the circuit court that the Bonds should not be validated because the issuance of the Bonds would free up other money for the Medical Center to use in St. Lucie County,<sup>5</sup> and because the intended trustee for the Bonds had allegedly allowed the escrow balance on an earlier 1976 bond issue to fall below a mandatory minimum amount. At best, these are legislative issues properly determinable by the governing body, and are not proper subjects of judicial review. Town of Medley v. State, 162 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1964). The circuit court was imminently correct in ruling that these two arguments were collateral to the proper scope of a bond validation proceeding, and Dr. Noble has not cited any authority holding or even suggesting that these issues would be within the court's jurisdiction in a bond validation proceeding.

Even if Dr. Noble's two arguments were properly before the circuit court in a bond validation proceeding, Dr. Noble utterly failed to adduce any competent substantial evidence in support of his arguments. The record contains not an iota of evidence that the proceeds from the Bonds will result in the Medical Center's expending funds in St. Lucie County that it would not otherwise have spent there. Dr. Noble merely testified in self-serving and conclusory terms that he believed that would be the case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As already noted, Dr. Noble also argued a related point, that proceeds from the Bonds would be used in St. Lucie County and therefore the legal notice was required to be published in St. Lucie County as well as in Martin County. The publication covered both counties, but the issue is moot because there was no evidence that the Bond proceeds would be used in St. Lucie County, and direct evidence that the proceeds would be used only in Martin County. Dr. Noble has not pursued this point on appeal.

The record likewise contains no evidentiary support for Dr. Noble's charge of breach of fiduciary duty against the trustee of an earlier 1976 bond issue. Dr. Noble filed with the circuit court a set of papers containing what purport to be an accounting firm's opinion letter on the arithmetical accuracy of computations debt service related to the 1976 bond issue, of schedules reflecting yield and cash flow on the 1976 bond issue, and other schedules and documents. [A 4.] But at no time did Dr. Noble identify the documents, authenticate them, place them in evidence, or furnish any explanatory testimony about them (such as by calling a trust officer of the trustee, or an expert witness, to explain the escrow account management and establish whether or not the documentation established any breach of fiduciary duty or in any way affected the bond issue). The documents are meaningless and establish nothing at all. The circuit court properly rejected Dr. Noble's objections.

# II. THE BONDS WERE ISSUED FOR A PROPER PUBLIC PURPOSE.

Dr. Noble maintains for the first time on appeal that his arguments below were directed to the issue of whether or not the Bonds were being issued for a proper public purpose. He argues that a bond validation proceeding ought to consider the "competitive or economic effects" that will result from validation of the Bonds. [In. Br. 8.] He is not entitled to raise these issues for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Sarasota County</u>, 372 So. 2d 1115, 1118 (Fla. 1979). This Court is a court of review,

- 7 -

and cannot pass upon matters that the circuit court has had no opportunity to consider.

Nevertheless, even if Dr. Noble's arguments below could be construed as a challenge to the public purpose of the Bonds, his arguments must fail and his authorities be rejected as inapposite. The Medical Center is a not-for-profit facility, and the Authority has already been found to have the right to issue bonds for the purpose of providing health care facilities to the community, which the Florida Legislature has declared to be a valid paramount public purpose:

> It is declared that for the benefit of the people of this state, ... it is essential that health facilities within each county and municipality in the state be provided with appropriate additional means to assist in the development and maintenance of the public health. ... The necessity in the public interest of the provisions hereinafter enacted is hereby declared as a matter of legislative determination.

> > \* \* \*

[T]he [health facilities] authority is authorized and empowered ... [t]o construct, acquire, own, lease, repair, maintain, extend, expand, improve, rehabilitate, renovate, furnish, and equip projects and to pay all or any part of the costs thereof from the proceeds of bonds of the authority or from any contribution, gift, or donation or other funds made available to the authority for such purpose.

\* \* \*

To issue bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay all or any part of the cost of any project and to issue refunding bonds. §§ 154.203, 154.209(5), 154.209(10), Fla. Stat. (1995). See also id. § 154.219 (revenue bonds); id. § 154.235 (refunding bonds)

These specific legislative findings of public purpose are entitled to great deference, as the Court has recognized on numerous occasions. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Wald v. Sarasota County Health</u> <u>Facilities Authority</u>, 360 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 1978) (finding as valid public purpose health facilities authority bonds used to refinance private hospital construction costs and costs of improvements). The Bonds need not serve a "paramount" public purpose, but are valid if they serve a public purpose. <u>Linscott v. Orange County Indus. Dev.</u> <u>Auth.</u>, 443 So. 2d 97, 101 (Fla. 1983). The sole evidence in the record is that the Bonds are nonrecourse bonds that will furnish such legislatively-authorized facilities in Martin County. They therefore satisfy the public purpose doctrine.

Dr. Noble relies on <u>City of West Palm Beach v. State</u>, 113 So. 2d 374, 377 (Fla. 1959), for the proposition that the public purpose doctrine is violated if bonds are issued as an "improper subsidy of private enterprise with public money." [In. Br. 5.] But <u>City of West Palm Beach</u> has no application here. In that case, the city issued bonds to finance a civic center complex, but intended to pay debt service on the bonds first from operational revenues received after leasing the facility to a private party, and second from a utility service tax. The Court held that the mandatory lease to a private party constituted an improper subsidy of private enterprise, and that the city could not validly pledge tax revenues as a source of repayment of the bonds. <u>Id.</u> at 378, 380.

The Martin County Bonds involve no such subsidy of a private party nor any improper pledge of tax revenues. At most, <u>if</u> it were true that the Bonds would make it possible for the Medical Center to expand its other business with other revenues, that is an incidental benefit, and one that could always be said to result from the issuance of bonds. Such an incidental benefit, even if proven (which it was not in this case), would not invalidate the Bonds:

> Running throughout this Court's decisions on paramount public purpose is a consistent theme. It is that there is required a paramount public purpose with only an incidental private benefit. If there is only an incidental benefit to a private party, then the bonds will be validated since the private benefits 'are not so substantial as to tarnish the public character' of the project.

Orange County Industrial Dev. Auth. v. State of Florida, 427 So. 2d 174, 179 (Fla. 1983). In addition, even if the Medical Center expands its business in another county, that business still lies within the public purpose authorized by Chapter 154.

Dr. Noble's other argument, that the proceeds of the Bonds will free up other money to be used in St. Lucie County and thereby give the Medical Center an unfair competitive advantage over other health care providers, is totally extraneous to a bond validation proceeding. Impact on competition is a matter for certificate of need proceedings, and business or economic concerns are not properly subjects of judicial review in a bond validation

- 10 -

proceeding. <u>DeSha v. City of Waldo</u>, 444 So. 2d 16, 17-18 (Fla. 1984) (question of need is policy matter for the community's governing body, not for the court); <u>Medley</u>, 162 So. 2d at 258 (same regarding feasibility).

The case Dr. Noble cites in support of his unfair competition argument, <u>McCoy Restaurants</u>, <u>Inc. v. City of Orlando</u>, 392 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1980), simply illustrates a collateral issue, in that case whether the issuing authority had improperly delegated its powers to a private entity, thus invalidating their lease agreements. 392 So. 2d at 253-54. If <u>McCoy</u> has any relevance to this proceeding, it is to support the Authority's argument that Dr. Noble's contentions below, like the question of the validity of airport leases, were wholly collateral to the bond validation proceeding and properly rejected.

The scope of a bond validation proceeding is limited to three topics, none of which was implicated by Dr. Noble's contentions. The trial court considered and approved the Authority's authority to issue the bonds, the purpose of the bonds, and compliance with the requirements of law. That is all the circuit court is required or permitted to do. <u>Rowe</u>, 668 So. 2d at 198. The judgment validating the Bonds should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

The circuit court correctly validated the Bonds, and this Court should affirm that judgment.